UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT

JUDGE CHIN

U.S. COMMODITY FUTURES TRADING ’07 CIV 6 6 8 2

COMMISSION, Case No.
Plaintiff,
COMPLAINT FOR INJUNCTIVE
\'2 ‘ AND OTHER EQUITABLE
RELIEF AND CIVIL MONETARY
AMARANTH ADVISORS, L.L.C., AMARANTH PENALTIES UNDER THE
ADVISORS (CALGARY) ULC and BRIAN HUNTER, COMMODITY EXCHANGE ACT

Defendants.

By and for its complaint, the U.S. Commodity Futures Trading Commission (“CFTC”)

alleges as follows:

L. SUMMARY

1. As is more fully alleged below, Defendants Amaranth Advisors L.L.C. and
Amaranth Advisors (Calgary) ULC (collectively “Amaranth™), by and through their employees
and agents, including Defendant Brian Hunter (“Hunter”), engaged in a scheme of price
manipulation that violated the Commodity Exchange Act, as amended (the “Act™), 7 US.C. §§ 1,
et seq. (2002).

2. Defendants intentionally and unlawfully attempted to manipulate the price'of
natural gas futures contracts on the New York Mercantile Exchange (“NYMEX") in 2006.

3. As more fully described below, Defendants violated Sections 6(c), 6(d) and

9(a)(2) of the Act, 7 U.S.C. §§ 9, 13b, and 13(a)(2).



4. Furthermore, on or about August 15, 2006, Amaranth Advisors L.L.C., in a
communication with NYMEX, willfully falsified, concealed, or covered up by trick, scheme or
artifice a material fact or made false, fictitious, or fraudulent statements or representations in
violation of Section 9(a)(4) of the Act, 7 U.S.C. § 13(a)(4).

S. Accordingly, pursuant to Section 6¢ of the Act, 7 U.S.C. § 13a-1, Plaintiff brings
this action to enjoin such acts and practices, and compel compliance with the Act. In addition,
Plaintiff seeks civil monetary penalties and such other equitable and ancillary relief as the Court
deems necessary or appropriate under the circumstances.

6. Unless restrained and enjoined by this Court, there is a reasonable likelihood that
Defendants will continue to engage in the acts and practices alleged in this Complaint or similar
acts and practices, as is more fully described below.

IL. JURISDICTION AND VENUE

7. This Court has jurisdiction pursuant to Section 6¢ of the Act, 7 U.S.C. § 13a-1,
which authorizes the CFTC to seek injunctive relief against any person, or to enforce compliance
with the Act, whenever it shall appear to the CFTC that such person has engaged, is engaging, or
is about to engage in any act or practice constituting a violation of any provision of the Act or
any rule, regulation or order thereunder.

8. Venue lies properly with this Court pursuant to Section 6¢(e) of the Act, 7 U.S.C.
§ 13a-1(e), in that Defendants transacted business within this District, and the acts and practices

in violation of the Act occurred within this District.



III. THE PARTIES
9. Plaintiff U.S. Commodity Futures Trading Commission is an independent federal
regulatory agency that is charged with the responsibility for administering and enforcing the
provisions of the Act, 7 U.S.C. §§ 1, et seq., and the regulations promulgated thereunder, 17
C.F.R. §§ 1, er seq. A purpose of the Act is “to deter and prevent price manipulation or any
other disruptions to market integrity.” 7 U.S.C. § 5.

10. Defendant Amaranth Advisors L.L.C. is a Delaware company, which was founded
in September 2000, with its principal place of business in Greenwich, Connecticut. Defendant
Amaranth Advisors L.L.C. is the investment advisor and manager of the Amaranth group of
investment funds including Amaranth LLC, a multi-strategy private investment fund. As of on
or about December 2005, Amaranth LLC and its subsidiaries had net assets of over $6 billion,
and natural gas futures positions valued at over $5 billion.

11, Defendant Amaranth Advisors (Calgary) ULC is a Nova Scotia unlimited liability
company with its principal place of business in Calgary, Alberta Province, Canada. Amaranth

Advisors (Calgary) ULC has never been registered with the Commission.

12. Defendant Amaranth Advisors (Calgary) ULC is a 99%-owned indirect subsidiary
of Amaranth Advisors L.L.C.
13. Amaranth provided investment, management and advisory services on behalf of

Amaranth LLC with regard to energy-related commodity instruments and related investments.
14. Defendant Brian Hunter is an individual who resides in Calgary, Alberta

Province, Canada. From or about October 2005 until or about September 2006 Defendant

Hunter was president of Defendant Amaranth Advisors (Calgary) ULC.



IV.  FACTS

I5. Amaranth traded both exchange-traded and over-the-counter (“OTC”) derivative
contracts including futures, options, and swaps.

16. A futures contract is an agreement to purchase or sell a commodity for delivery in
the future at a price that is determined at initiation of the contract, that obligates each party to the
contract to fulfill the contract at the specified price, that is used to assume or shift price risk, and
that may be satisfied by delivery or offset.

17. The natural gas futures contract traded on the NYMEX is for a volume of 10,000
million British thermal units (MMBtu) of natural gas to be delivered at the Henry Hub in
Louisiana during the month specified in the contract.

18. The NYMEX is a designated contract market under Section 5(b) of thf; Act and
Commission Regulations 38.3(a)(1)(ii) and (iii). The IntercontinentalExchange (“ICE”) is an
exempt commercial market under Section 2(h)(3) through (5) of the Act and Commission
Regulation 36.3.

19. Amaranth was not capable of accepting delivery of or of delivering physical
natural gas and thus at fhe end of trading of the spot month NYMEX natural gas futures contract
needed to have a flat position in that contract.

20. In or around October 2005, Defendant Hunter, who oversaw most of the natural
gas trading at Amaranth, transferred from the Greenwich, Connecticut office to Calgary and
became head of energy trading in the Calgary office. Certain natural gas traders under
Defendant Hunter’s supervision continued to work at the Greenwich office, and risk
management and compliance personnel in charge of overseeing the trading of the Calgary office

continued to work in Greenwich.



21. Defendant Hunter’s compensation in 2005 was over $100 million.

22. At all times relevant to this complaint, Defendant Hunter was Amaranth’s head
natural gas trader.

23, In 2006, Defendants engaged in a scheme to attempt to manipulate natural gas
futures prices on the NYMEX, including on February 24 and April 26, 2006. Defendants’
manipulative scheme included, in part, the purchase of a substantial amount of NYMEX natural
gas futures contracts in advance of the closing range that Defendants planned to sell during the
last half hour on the final day of trading such contracts (the “Manipulative Scheme”).

24. Defendants effectuated the Manipulative Scheme through a variety of acts and
practices that were intended to manipulate the prices of NYMEX natural gas futures contracts.

25. In accordance with NYMEX Rules, thg, settlement price of the NYMEX natural
gas futures contracts is determined by the volume weighted average of trades executed from
2:00-2:30 p-m. (“closing range™) on the last day of trading of such contracts (“expiration day”).

26. Defendants intended to create artificial natural gas futures prices by placing large
sell orders in the closing range on expiration day.

27. A look-alike swap is an OTC swap that is cash settled based upon the settlement
price of a similar exchange-traded futures contract on a specified trading day.

28. On the expiration days in issue, Amaranth held, as compared to its NYMEX
futures position, a substantially larger short natural gas financially-settled swaps position,
primarily on the IntercontinentalExchange (“ICE”).

29. The ICE natural gas swap is a look-alike swap that is financially settled, meaning

that upon expiration of the swap the holder will either pay or be paid the difference in the price



paid for the swap and the final settlement price of the swap. In calculating the settlement price
for its natural gas swaps, ICE uses the NYMEX settlement price.

30. Defendants sought to lower the prices of the NYMEX natural gas futures contract
to benefit Amaranth’s larger short natural gas swaps positions on ICE and elsewhere.

A.  Defendants’ Attempt to Manipulate Futures Prices on February 24, 2006

31. On or about February 24, 2006, the expiration day of the March 2006 NYMEX
natural gas futures contract, Defendants attempted to manipulate natural gas futures contract
prices by obtaining a large long futures contract position in order to sell those contracts in the
closing range.

32. On February 23, 2006, Defendant Hunter told Amaranth natural gas trader
Matthew Donohoe (“Donohoe”) “make sure we have lots of futures to sell MoC [market on
close] tomorrow”. See instant message attached as Exhibit A document number
AALLC_REGO0684056.

33. On or about the start of futures trading on February 24, 2006, Amaranth had a
short position of over 1,700 March 2006 natural gas futures contracts.

34. At that time Amaranth operations personnel in Greenwich informed Defendant
Hunter and his natural gas traders that they were “short - 1729 Nat Gas Mar 06” futures contracts
and to “[p]lease make sure we are flat by the end of the day today.” See e-mail attached as
Exhibit A document number AALLC_REG0672597.

35. As part of the Manipulative Scheme, on February 24, 2006 before the start of the

closing range, Defendants reversed their natural gas futures positions from being short to being

long over 3000 March 2006 contracts.



36. On February 24, 2006 prior to the closing range, Defendant Hunter stated to
another Amaranth natural gas trader that he would “just need H [March natural gas futures
contract] to get smashed on settle then day is done.” See instant message attached as Exhibit A
document number AALLC_REG0684186.

37. Defendant Hunter has testified that the term “smashed” in the context of futures
prices means “if something fell really, really quickly, if the prices fell really, really quickly, you
say those prices got smashed.”

38. Less than half an hour before the closing range on February 24, 2006, Defendant
Hunter disclosed part of the Manipulative Scheme to a natural gas trader at another firm:

:31:25 PM EST Brian Hunter: We have 4000 to sell MoC
:31:28 PM EST Brian Hunter: shhhh

:31:36 PM EST gloverb: come on

:31:39 PM EST Brian Hunter: y

1:31:43 PM EST gloverb: unless you are huge bearish

1:31:49 PM EST gloverb: position

1:31:54 PM EST gloverb: why the f would yo do that

1:32:16 PM EST Brian Hunter: all from options yestrday
1:32:25 PM EST Brian Hunter: so we 1l see what the floor has
1:32:33 PM EST Brian Hunter: bit of an expiriment [sic] mainly
1:32:43 PM EST gloverb: what the

1:32:46 PM EST gloverb: that is huge

1:35:34 PM EST Brian Hunter: I think John {Arnold] and Sempra [Energy] are sellers too

1
1
1
1

See instant message attached as Exhibit A document number AALLC_REG0684227.

39. A few minutes after the start of the closing range on February 24, 2006, the same
natural gas trader asked Defendant Hunter “arent you done” selling your futures. Defendant
Hunter, knowing that the Manipulative Scheme was not yet concluded, replied “no...have alot

more to sell...waiting until 2:20.” See instant message attached as Exhibit A document number

AALLC_REG0684264.



40. Defendant Hunter and Donochoe congratulated themselves, at about half way
through the closing range on February 24, 2006, when Defendant Hunter stated to Donohoe
“today came together quite nicely” and Donohoe later replied:

2:30:21 PM EST Matthew Donohoe: h [March contract] will setlle lower
2:30:47 PM EST Matthew Donohoe: and h/j wider
2:31:30 PM EST Matthew Donohoe: nice
2:31:37 PM EST Brian Hunter: I am flexing here
2:31:40 PM EST Matthew Donohoe: looking preety [sic] bang on
2:31:50 PM EST Matthew Donohoe: we already mimiced
2:31:53 PM EST Matthew Donohoe: lol
2:31:58 PM EST Matthew Donohoe: rrrrrrrrrrrrrrroror
2:32:04 PM EST Brian Hunter: hahahahaha
2:32:23 PM EST Matthew Donohoe: 2nd best...sept/oct last year still the best
2:32:27 PM EST Matthew Donohoe: oh yeag [sic]
See instant message attached as Exhibit A document number AALLC_REG0704931.

41. On February 24, 2006, during their selling spree on the closing range, Defendants
placed orders to sell over 3,000 March NYMEX natural gas futures contracts in an attempt to
manipulate the contract price. At that time, Amaranth had a short swaps position of at least
12,000 contracts (futures equivalents), that would benefit from a lower settlement price of the
March natural gas futures contract.

42, On or about March 10, 2006 Amaranth Advisors (Calgary) ULC issued a
compliance manual that prohibited manipulative and fraudulent trading practices, including
engaging in “trading or apparent trading activity for the purpose of artificially causing the price
of a commodity to move up or down, and then take advantage of such price movement by buying
or selling at such “artificial’ price level.”

43. The compliance manual also prohibited engaging in ““‘marking the close’ at or

near the close of trading for the primary purpose of attempting to change the closing price to

protect or alter the value of an existing position or to avoid a margin call, although this



prohibition is not intended to preclude trades at or near the close of trading that have a legitimate
business purpose, manage business risk or that otherwise have economic substance.”
B. Defendants’ Attempt to Manipulate Futures Prices in April 26, 2006

44, On or about April 26, 2006, the expiration day of the May 2006 NYMEX natural
gas futures contract, Defendants attempted to manipulate natural gas futures contract prices by
obtaining a large long futures contract position in order to sell a large number of offsetting
contracts using three large orders that were placed near the end of the closing range.

45. On or about April 21, 2006, Amaranth reversed its futures position by acquiring
futures contracts, such that for the first time in the month they were long May NYMEX natural
gas futures contracts.

46. From then, until April 26, 2006 the Defendants continued tq build their long
futures position, such that by the time of the closing range they were long in excess of 3,000 May
2006 natural gas futures contracts.

47. Going into the closing range on April 26, 2006, Amaranth also had a short May
swap position of over 19,000 contracts (futures equivalents).

48. Defendant Hunter was concerned that Centaurus Advisors LLC, another hedge
fund, was going to be a large buyer of natural gas futures in the closing range and that this would
affect the settlement price of the May 2006 NYMEX natural gas futures contract, which in turn
would adversely affect Amaranth’s short swaps positions.

49, Beginning at 12:45 pm on April 26, 2006, Hunter had an instant message

conversation with David Chasman (“Chasman), the energy risk manager at Amaranth, where he

discussed what he thought Arnold planned to do and why:

12:48:48 pm Brian Hunter: FYI Amold is getting scary short into the [Energy
Information Agency gas storage] number tomorrow



12:50:26 pm David Chasman: what u think arnold has?
12:50:28 pm Brian Hunter:  we are rolling size into may
12:50:42 pm Brian Hunter: and I am worrie[d] that Anold [sic] has taken the other side

of everything
12:51:00 pm Brian Hunter:  so either he runs it up on the close today and gets short
tomorrow
12:51:08 pm Brian Hunter:  or has a HUGE view on the number tomorrow
12:53:03 pm David Chasman: other side of everything meaning buying from everyone
else selling - or buying from [you]
12:53:17 pm Brian Hunter: no buying may and selling June...with me
12:54:36 pm David Chasman: does he know what [you are] up [to] [with respect to]
rolling off length?... sorry rolling off short
12:55:16 pm Brian Hunter: probably

12:55:29 pm Brian Hunter: I think its more that he thinks its going to get [f...d]
tomorrow

12:55:47 pm Brian Hunter: me may try to help it by running the market up on the
close

12:56:10 pm David Cha.s.r.nan: kinda hard to do when [you are] selling — no?
12:56:39 pm Brian Hunter: Amold is the master of moving theclose?
See instant message attached as Exhibit A document number A_CFTC032874.

50. Defendant Hunter expressed a similar sentiment to an outside trader in an instant
message wherein Hunter wrote “I think John [Arnold] wants to bid it on close.” See instant
message attached as Exhibit A document number AALLC_REG0593127.

51. To affect the price for the May 2006 NYMEX natural gas futures contract,
Defendants intentionally waited to sell their May 2006 NYMEX natural gas futures contracts.

52. At the beginning of the closing range on April 26, 2006, Defendant Hunter stated

to an Amaranth risk manager that he is seeing many buyers but he (Defendant Hunter) has “yet

to sell.” See instant message attached as Exhibit A document number A_CFTC032878.
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53. Also early in the closing range on April 26, 2006, Defendant Hunter stated to an
Amaranth trader, Matthew Calhoun “we are wa[i]ting to sell.” See instant message attached as
Exhibit A document number A_CFTC032910.

54. Defendant Hunter knew that his selling would mute the effect of the buyers,
whose purchases would tend to exert upward price pressure.

55. At about the middle of the close on April 26, 2006, Defendants placed their first
order to sell 500 May 2006 NYMEX natural gas futures contracts with instructions to hold
execution of the order until the last eight minutes of the closing range, as part of the
Manipulative Scheme.

56. The order ticket for that order indicates the instruction to wait to execute the order

until the last eight minutes of the closing range:

11



TFS ENERGY FUTURES, LLC
BUY PR BR06,]

- .
.-
S
LR

SELL LAST

/ VPhone clerk notation

ACCOUNT

57. Around the same time on April 26, 2006, Defendants placed another order to sell
544 May 2006 NYMEX natural gas futures contracts with instructions to hold execution of the
order until the last eight minutes of the closing range, as part of the Manipulative Scheme.

58. The order ticket for that order indicates the instruction to wait to execute the order

until the last eight minutes of the closing range:

12



Phpne clerk notation

59. At about 2:22 p.m. on April 26, 2006, with only eight minutes left in the closing
range, Defendants placed a third order to sell 2,000 May 2006 NYMEX natural gas futures
contracts. This final order represents two-thirds of the position Amaranth held going into the
closing range.

60. - The order ticket for the 2,000 lot order, with an indication that 1,675 of those lots

were executed during the close, appears below:

13



ALX ENERGY, INC.

61. The 2,000 lot order was so large, and came so late in the closing range, that the
broker was not able to execute the entire order during the closing range.
C. The Cover-up

62. On or about August 2, 2006, in furtherance of their official duties under the Act,
the NYMEX Compliance Department sent a letter to Amaranth inquiring about Amaranth’s
trading of May 2006 NYMEX natural gas futures contracts on April 26, 2006 (the “August 2

Letter”). The August 2 Letter is attached as Exhibit B.
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63. In the August 2 Letter the NYMEX Compliance Department informed Amaranth
that it had commenced an investigation to review Amaranth’s natural gas trading activity on
April 26, 2006.

64. Specifically, NYMEX’s August 2 Letter stated that a heavy concentration of
Amaranth’s trading of May 2006 NYMEX natural gas futures contracts occurred in the final
minutes prior to the termination of trading in the contract, and that Amaranth sold 99% of its
contracts in the final four minutes of the closing range and 78% of its contracts in the final
minute of the closing range.

65. In the Adgust 2 Letter, NYMEX requested that Amaranth review its May 2006
NYMEX natural gas futures trading activity for April 26, 2006 and provide a written explanation
of the commercial need and Justification for its trading.

66. Knowing, therefore, that NYMEX was investigating whether it had engaged in
banging the closing range, and that the Manipulative Scheme would unravel if the true account
of its trading activity w.as disclosed, in response to the NYMEX inquiry Amaranth submitted a
letter to cover-up what actually occurred. In that letter Amaranth willfully falsified, concealed,
or covered up by trick, scheme or artifice a material fact and/or made false, fictitious, or
fraudulent statements or representations in describing its April 26, 2006 trading.

67. On or about August 15, 2006, Amaranth sent a letter to NYMEX (the “August 15
Letter”) in response to NYMEX’s August 2 Letter. The August 15 Letter is attached as Exhibit
C.

68. The August 15 Letter contains a number of false and misleading statements,
including the manner in which Amaranth described its positions and trading strategy,

deliberately concealing from NYMEX that Amaranth had given specific instructions to its floor
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brokers on April 26, 2006 as to when Amaranth’s sales orders should be executed, claiming that
it did not decide to sell its March natural gas futures contracts outri ght until 2:17 p.m. or later,
and claiming that to the extent any part of Amaranth’s orders was executed in the post-close
trading session it was not due to Amaranth’s instructions but perhaps occurred because a floor
broker erroneously failed to comply with Amaranth’s directive to complete the execution of its
orders during the closing range.

V. VIOLATIONS OF THE COMMODITY EXCHANGE ACT

COUNT I:
ATTEMPTED MANIPULATION OF THE PRICE OF
NATURAL GAS FUTURES
69. Paragraphs 1 through 68 are re-alleged and incorporated herein by reference.
70. Sections 6(c), 6(d) and 9(a)(2) of the Act, 7 U.S.C. §§ 9, 13b, and 13(a)(2), make

it unlawful for any person to attempt to manipulate the price of any commodity in interstate
commerce, or for future delivery on or subject to the rules of any registered entity, including any
contract market.

71. Defendants intended to affect the price of natural gas futures in 2006, including
on or about February 24 and April 26, 2006.

72. Defendants engaged in overt actions in furtherance of their intent to affect the
price of natural gas futures in 2006, including on or about February 24 and April 26, 2006.

73. By their conduct, Defendants Amaranth Advisors L.L.C., Amaranth Advisors

(Calgary) ULC, and Hunter each violated Sections 6(c), 6(d) and 9(a)(2) of the Act, 7U.S.C. §§
9, 13b, and 13(a)(2).
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74, Each and every overt action in furtherance of the intent to affect the price of
natural gas futures contracts, coupled with that intent, including but not limited to every
purchase, sale, bid, offer, telephone call, e-mail and instant message, is alleged herein as separate
and distinct violation of Sections 6(c), 6(d) and 9(a)(2) of the Act, 7 U.S.C. §§ 9, 13b, and
13(a)(2).

75. Amaranth Advisors L.L.C. and Amaranth Advisors (Calgary) ULC are also liable
for violating Sections 6(c), 69d) and 9(a)(2) of the Act pursuant to Section 2(a)(1)(B) of the Act,
by virtue of the acts of its official, agent or other person acting within the scope of his
employment or office, including Defendant Hunter.

COUNT 2
THE COVER-UP

76. Paragraphs 1 through 75 are re-alleged and incorporated herein by reference.

77. Section 9(a)(4) of the Act, 7 U.S.C. § 13(a)(4), makes it unlawful for any person
willfully to falsify, conceal, or cover up by any trick, scheme, or artifice a material fact, make
any false, fictitious, or fraudulent statements or representations, or make or use any false writing
or document knowing the same to contain any false, fictitious, or fraudulent statement or entry to
a registered entity, board of trade, or futures association designated or registered under the Act

acting in furtherance of its official duties under the Act.

78. NYMEX is a board of trade as defined by Section 1a(2) of the Act, 7 U.S.C. §
la(2).
79. NYMEX was acting in furtherance of its official duties under the Act in

reviewing Amaranth’s natural gas trading activity.
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80. On or about August 15, 2006, Amaranth Advisors, L.L.C. made material
misrepresentations to NYMEX by, among other things, the manner in which it described its
positions and trading strategy, deliberately concealing from NYMEX that Amaranth had given
specific instructions to its floor brokers on April 26, 2006 as to when Amaranth’s sales orders
should be executed, and claiming that it did not decide to sell its March natural gas futures
contracts outright until 2:17 p.m. or later.

81. By its conduct Defendant Amaranth Advisors, L.L.C. violated Section 9(a)(4) of
the Act, 7 U.S.C. § 13(a)(4).

82. Each and every instance of such conduct by Amaranth Advisors L.L.C. is alleged
herein as separate and distinct violation of Section 9(a)(4) of the Act, 7 U.S.C. § 13(a)4).

83. Amaranth Advisors L.L.C. is also liable for violating Section 9(a)(4) of the Act, 7
U.S.C. § 13(a)(4), pursuant 1o Section 2(a)(1)(B) of the Act, by virtue of the acts of its official,
agent or other peréon acting within the scope of his employment or office, including Defendant
Hunter.

VI. RELIEF REQUESTED
WHEREFORE, Plaintiff respectfully requests that this Court, as authorized by Section 6¢c of the
Act, 7U.S.C. § 13a-1, and pursuant to its own equitable powers

A. Find Defendants liable for violating Sections 6(c), 6(d), and 9(a)(2) of the Act, 7
US.C. §§ 9, 13b, and 13(a)(2);

B. Find Amaranth Advisors L.L.C. further liable for violating Section 9(a)(4) of the Act,
7U.S.C. § 13(a)(4);

C. Enter an order of permanent injunction restraining and enjoining Defendants and any

of their affiliates, agents, servants, employees, successors, assigns, attorneys and persons in
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active concert with them who receive actual notice of such order by personal service or
otherwise, from directly or indirectly violating Sections 6(c), 6(d), and 9(a)(2) of the Act, 7
U.S.C. §§ 9, 13b, and 13(a)(2);

D. Enter an order of permanent injunction further restraining and enjoining Amaranth
Advisors L.L.C. and any of its affiliates, agents, servants, employees, successors, assigns,
attorneys and persons in active concert with them who receive actual notice of such order by
personal service or otherwise, from directly or indirectly violating Section 9(a)(4) of the Act, 7
U.S.C. § 13(a)(4)

E. Enter an order of permanent injunction prohibiting Defendants and any of their
affiliates, agents, servants, employees, successors, assigns, attorneys and persons in active
concert with them who receive actual notice of such order by personal service or otherwise,

from:

1. trading on or subject to the rules of any registered entity, as that term is
defined in Section 1a(29) of the Act, 7 U.S.C. § 1a(29) (2002);

2. engaging in, controlling or directing the trading for any commodity
interest account for or on behalf of any other person or entity, whether by power of
attorney or otherwise;

3. soliciting or accepting any funds from any person in connection with the
purchase or sale of any commodity interest;

4, applying for registration or claiming exemption from registration with the
Commission in any capacity, and engaging in any activity requiring such registration or
exemption from registration with the Commission, except as provided for in Regulation
4.14 (a)(9), 17 C.F.R. § 4.14(a)(9) (2006), or acting as a principal, agent or any other
officer or employee of any person registered, exempted from registration or required to
be registered with the Commission, except as provided for in Regulation 4.14 (@)(9), 17
C.F.R. § 4.14(a)(9) (2006);

5. entering into any commodity interest transactions for their own personal
accounts, for any account in which they have a direct or indirect interest and/or having
any commodity interests traded on their behalf; and/or

6. engaging in any business activities related to commodity interest trading;
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F. Enter an order directing Defendants to pay civil monetary penalties, to be assessed by
the Court, in an amount not to exceed $130,000 or triple the monetary gain to them for each
violation of the Act, as described herein;

G. Enter an order providing for such other and further equitable and ancillary relief as
this Court may deem necessary and appropriate, including but not limited to restitution and
disgorgement of ill-gotten gains and damages; and

H. Enter an order requiring Defendants to pay costs and fees as permitted by 28 U.S.C.

§§ 1920 and 2412(a)(2).
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VII. DEMAND FOR JURY TRIAL

Plaintiff hereby demands a jury trial.

Dated: July 25, 2007
New York, New York

21
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EXHIBIT A



From: windowsadmin@amaranthlic.com

Sent: Thursday, February 23, 2006 3:13 PM
To: amaranth.dom@amaranth. digitalsafa.net
Subject: SUBJECT: CONVERSATION PARTICIPANTS = BHUNTER@AMARANTHLLC.COM;

MODONOHOE@AMARANTHLLC.COM

IM Network: AOL IM
IM Users:

participént-bhunter@amarant:hllc.com "hunteramaranth”
. participant=mdonohoeRamaranthllc.com "mjtdonohos”

IM Dialog:

Thursday, February 23, 2006 3:13:29 PM EST Matthew Dconohoe started conversation.
Thursday, February 23, 2006 3:13:29 FM EST Brian Hunter has entered the conversation.
Thursday, February 23, 2006 3:13:29 PM EST Matthew Donohoe: i think that was mother rock
Thursday, February 23, 2006 3:13:38 PM EST Matthew Donohoe: they were buving all the pen
last Thuraday, February 23, 2006 3:16:23 PM EST Brian Hunter: vol Thursday, February 23,
2006 3:16:24 PM EST Brian Huntsr: 78.50%51,00%50.00%48,75%48.25%48.50%48.75%48.75%48.50%
48.50%50.50%850.50%50.50%35.25%34,25%34,25%34.75%34,75%34.75%36.00838.45%39.50%40.00%40.50%
41.70%30.00%29.00%29.00%29.50%29.75%30.00%30.50831.50%32.00%33.00%33.25%35.00%27.50%27.00%
27.00%27.00%27.00%27.00%27.50%28.00%828.50% ’

Thursday, February 23, 2006 3:16:27 PM EST Brian Hunter: big changes Thursday, February
23, 2006 3:16:35 PM EST Brian Hunter: don't forget Cathy's marks Thursday, February 23,
2006 3:16:46 PM EST Matthew Denohoe: got them Thursday, February 23, 2006 3:17:13 BM EST
Matthew Donohece: 13 m hit Thursday, February 23, 2006 3:17:25 PM EST Matthew Donohoe: down
11.5 m Thursday, February 23, 2006 3:17:31 PFM EST Matthew Donochoe: total Thursday,
February 23, 2006 3:18:25 PM EST Brian Hunter: ] gave you new curve Thursday, February 23,
2006 3:18:32 PM EST Brian Hunter: X
7.3007.4307.5967.7317.8647.9448.0158.1109.12710.13410.79%910.82610.6048.7548.5548.6248.7098
.7798.7898.8599.46410.02910.41410.39410.2046.1998.0096.0798.1378.2028.2096.2698,8429,4179.
8429.8329.6407.6257.4207.4907.5557.6157,6257.6858.3008.8909.3359,3309.1357.,1556.9957.0407.
0907.1407.1257.1757.7458.3158.8958.8858.7107.3207.1007.1807.2057.2457.2307.2707.7408.160
Thursday, February 23, 2006 3:20:53 FM EST Matthew Donohoe: yeah got that Thursday,
February 23, 2006 3:20:59 PM EST Matthew Donohoe: price makes 9m Thursday, February 23,
2006 3:21:19 PM EST Matthew Donohoe: vol losses 20 Thursday, February 23, 2006 3:21:43 EM
EST Brian Hunter: we'll make back alittle off Cathy's optoins Thursday, February 23, 2006
3:2]1:57 PM EST Brian Hunter: also I want you to mark the put skew in Cal?d puts Thursday,
Febrvary 23, 2006 3:22:05 PM EST Matthew Donochoe: sure Thursday, February 23, 2006 3:22:11
PM EST Brian Hunter: 2.5-8.5-ve -, 06 cents Thursday, February 23, 2006 3:22:29 FM EST

. Matthew Donohoe: neg skes Thursday, February 23, 2006 3:22:42 PM EST Brian Hunter: y
Thursday, February 23, 2006 3:22:50 FM EST Brian Hunter: 2.20 to 5.00 out of the money
strike Thursday, February 23, 2006 3:22:54 PM EST Brian Hunter: 6 cents nevative Thursday,
February 23, 2006 3:22:57 PM EST Matthew Donochoe: got it Thursday, February 23, 2006
3:22:58 PM EST Brian Hunter: they are {4 cents right now Thursday, February 23, 2006
3:23:08 PM EST Brian Hunter: Cath'y trades will amke mack 6mm Thursday, February 23, 2006
3:23:16 PM EST Brian Hunter: and skew another 2mm Thursday, February 23, 2006 3:23:57 PM

- EST Matthew Donohce: we will loss 4m on adjust to csc Thursday, February 23, 2006 3:23:59
PM EST Matthew Donohoe: right Thursday, February 23, 2006 3:26:38 PM EST Matthew Donohoe:
rallying here Thursday, FPebruary 23, 2006 3:26:44 PM EST Matthew Donchoe: 35 bid b~
Thursday, February 23, 2006 3:30:19 BM EST Brian Hunter: new curve Thursday, Fekruary 23,
2006 3:30:23 MM EST Brian Hunter:
7.4587.5437.7037.8437.973€.0538.1238.2189.22810.20810.856810.86810.6658.8188.6088.6688.7385
-7988.818€.8939.49810.06810.49110.49110.3218.2218.0368.0868.1468.2018.,2268.2918,8569.4169,
8799.8699.6637.6097.4047.4747.5397.5947.6197.6898.2848.8649.3049,294%.1047.1046.926.9657.C
187.0647.0747.1447.7248.3048.8958,8858.7107.3207.1007.1807.205%.2457.2307.2707.7408.160
Thursday, February 23, 2006 3:39:48 FM EST Brian Hunter: PBN trading 13.5 for size H.J
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Thursday, Febkruary éB. 2006 3:39:58 EM EST Brian Hunter: make sure we have lots of futures
to sell MoC tomorrow
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From: Michael Mdach [mmaach@amaranthllc.com)]

Sent: Friday, February 24, 2006 10:23 AM

To: Méatthew Cahoun; Matthew Donchose; Brian Hunter; Brad Basarowich; Peter Geary; Alex Villamil;
Adam Glassmen h

Cc Energy Operdlions

Subject: Book2 xls

. Attachments Bock2.xls
<<B<.Jok2.xls>> '
Please see the above conceming our position which agrees with JPMU of short -1729 Nat Gas Mar 06 (NGHS).
Please mal'<e sure we are flat by the end of the day today.
Thanks,

Mike

CONFIDENTIAL TREATMENT REQUESTED AALLC_REG0672597



From; windowsadmin@amaranthlic.com

Sent: Friday, February 24, 2008 12:10 PM
To: amaranth.dom@amaranth.digitaisafe.net
Subjects SUBJECT: CONVERSATION PARTICIPANTS = MCALHOUN@AMARANTHLLC.COM;

BHUNTER@AMARANTHLLC.COM

IM Merwori: AOL IM
IM sors:

participant=mczlhounfamaranthilc.com "zallifmication”
participant=thunterfamaranthllc.com "hunteramaranth®

IM Dialog:

Friday, February 24, 2006 12:10:16 PM EST Matthew Calhoun started conversation.

Friday, february 24, 2006 12:10:16 PM EST Brian Hunter has antered the conversation.
friday, February 24, 2006 12:10:1€ PM EST Matthew Calhoun: very much so Friday, February
24, 2006 12:10:16 PM £ST Matthew Calhoun: very much so Friday, February 24, 2006 12:14:43
PM EST Brian Hunter: jv/xh seems very big Friday, February 24, 2006 12:14:43 PM EST Brian
Hunter: jv/zh seems very big Friday, February 24, 2006 12:14:45 PM EST Brian Hunter: 3jv7
is ctrong Friday, February 24, 2006 12:14:45 PM EST Brian Hunter: jv7 is strong Friday,
tebruary 24, 2006 12:15:10 PM EST Matthew Calhoun: yeah, not many sellers out therec
frigay, February 24, 2006 12:15:10 PM £ST Matthew Calhoun: yeah, not manyv sellers out
there rriday, February 24, 2006 12:15:41 PM EST Brian Hunter: that's pushing up the summer
winter fFriday, February 24, 20046 12:15:91 PM EST Brian Hunter: that's pushing up the
summer winter Friday, February 24, 2006 12:15:47 PM EST Brian Hunter: and 7/10 Eriday,
February 24, 2006 12:15:47 PM EST Brian Hunter: and 7/10 Friday, february 24, 2006
12:15:52 PM £ST Brian Hunter: hello...

Friday, February 24, 2006 12:15:52 PM EST Brian Hunter: hello...

Friday, FTebruary 24, 2006 12:15:57 PM EST S3rian Hunter: sweet Friday, February 24, 2006
12:15:57 PM EST Brian Hunter: sweet Friday, February 24, 2006 12:15:59 PM EST Matthew
Calhoun: lol Friday, February 24, 2006 12:16:00 BM EST Matthew Calhoun: lol Friday,
February 24, 2006 12:16:06 FM EST Matthew Calhoun: pain everywhere Friday, February 24,
20056 12:16:06 PM EST Matthew Calhoun: pain everywhere Friday, February 24, 2006 12:16:28
PM EST Brian Hunter: just need H to get smashed on settle Friday, February 24, 2006
12:15:28 PM EST Brian Hunter: just need H to get smashed =n settle Friday, February 24,
2006 3Z:16:31 PM EST Brian Hunter: then day is done Friday, February 24, 2006 12:16:31 EM
EST Brian Hunter: then day is done Friday, February 24, 2006 12:16:42 PM EST Matthew
Calhoun: 21 is huge for Friday, February.24, 2006 12:16:42 PM EST Matthew Calhoun: 